FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/16/2023 11:58 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 101973-4

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RYAN HITES

Petitioner,

v.

GRIFFIN MACLEAN, INC.

Respondent.

AMENDED PETITION FOR REVIEW

Petitioner, *Pro Se*, Ryan Hites 4901 South Dawson Street Seattle, WA 98118 (425) 503-8556

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Ryan Hites asks for review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division 1 of the Court of Appeals filed its opinion on April 10, 2023. A copy of the opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 to A-33.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

(1) Does a trial court properly grant partial summary
judgment to an employer dismissing an employee's
affirmative defenses to the enforcement of a noncompete,
when the employer failed "to explicitly move on the
defenses it would like the court to rule on them," and the
motion and proposed order for declaratory relief and
contractual liability failed to set forth the relief sought as
judgment dismissing the defenses and failed to state with

particularity the grounds (judgment on the issue of defenses with the reasons therefor), as required under civil rules 7(a)(1) and 56 and the teachings of Robbins v.

Mason Cnty. Title Ins. Co., 195 Wn.2d 618, 638 ¶51, 462

P.3d 430 (2020), and White v. Kent Medical Cntr., Inc.,
61 Wn. App. 163, 168, 810 P.2d 4 (1991)?

(2) Is a no defenses provision included in the noncompete unenforceable and unconscionable when applied to defenses based on the failure to pay overtime?

Op. at 18-22.

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals opinion sets forth the facts and procedure at issue. Op. at 2-7. But the opinion ignores several critical facts that impact this Court's review of the decision.

The employer misclassified employees as exempt from overtime in a 2014 employee manual and later admitted Hites

should have been paid for any overtime. CP 1220 (Dec. 5, 2019, 30(b)(6) Dep. at 25:19-28:8); 1410:11-19. In 2015, the employer sent Hites a written employment offer that failed to mention the noncompete. CP 313:1-3, 392; Appendix B to Br. of Appellant.

Although the court characterizes the noncompete as a nonsolicitation agreement, the agreement contained §1 "Noncompetition" restricting an employee from "enter into or engaging in direct or indirect competition with Employer's clients" and from accepting work from customers. Appendix B to Br. of Appellant (underline in original). The employer expressly invoked § 1 "Non-competition" to stifle protected speech about wages and workplace conditions. Br. of Appellant at 35-36, 49-53. The complaint asserted noncompetition claims. Am. Compl. ¶¶ 10 (§ 1), 23 (breach of §1), 47 (abstain from "engaging in direct or indirect competition with GM"), 48-49, 52 ("engaging in direct competition with GM's clients"), 57 ("violations of the noncompetition ... provisions"). CP 128, 132, 137-38. Noncompete § 4 (Remedies) contained a no defense provision; Section § 6 (Reasonableness) states: "Further, Employee covenants with the Employer that in consideration of his or her employment, he or she agrees to conform to *the rules and regulation of Employer*, and his or employment and *compensation* can be terminated with or without cause" App. B to Br. of Appellant (italics added).

In response to the suit, Hites' answer pleaded a counterclaim for failing to pay overtime in violation of the employment agreement, CP 681:12-19, incorporated a presuit letter asserting material breach, CP 67-7, and denied he was making a false claim of wage theft. See Br. of Appellant at 2-4 (error and issues); id. at 24-36, 51-52 (argued (1) counterclaim intertwined with issues raised in the complaint and defenses -- disfavoring partial summary judgment (2) the complaint and answer incorporated the presuit letter asserting material breach, the complaint alleged Hites violated the noncompete by giving the

other employees the presuit letter and making a "false" accusation of "wage theft," but the accusation was true--wage theft is the failure to pay overtime, which suspended performance, caused unclean hands, failure of consideration, illegality and material breach, see, e.g., id. at 21-22, 28-33, 51-52; and (3) the implied duty applied to employer's discretion regarding compensation, and a statutory violation can support a breach of the implied duty). Id. at 26-36.

The employees clarified in discovery motions that they were raising illegality/unconscionability, violations of statutes, and public policy as defenses. Br. of Appellant at 30, 37-39.

The employer did not move to dismiss the overtime counterclaim; the employer merely moved to limit the duration of the claim under the statute of limitations. CP 1340:12-21. The motion's statement of issues did not mention affirmative defenses. CP 1345:22-46:8. The motion did not mention any affirmative defenses CP 1339-66.

When opposing the summary judgment, Hites identified the issues outside the scope of the pending motion: "The noncompete agreement's waiver of defenses is inconspicuous and violates public policy, and the overtime (wage theft) and commission reductions are valid defenses establishing the first material breach by Griffin MacLean. The motion does not address counterclaims, affirmative defenses, and theories raised in pleadings." See CP 1414:8-26 (cleaned up; italics added); 1413:20-14:7 ("ruling on breach is premature when there are claims that Griffin MacLean failed to pay overtime (wage theft) wage violations suspended performance In addition, the consideration failed and the failure to comply with wage statutes is an illegality"); 1415:13-17:6; 1420:3-11; see generally CP 1413-17, 1421:3-22:16. Hites' opposition to the summary judgment motion "cited decisions where parties had unsuccessfully, explicitly moved for summary judgment on whether the failure to pay overtime was an excuse or defense to noncompetes." CP 1416:21-:17:6; 1586:23-87:10 (citing

Genex Co-op., Inc. v. Contreras, No. 2:13-CV-03008-SAB, 2014 WL 4959404, at *11 (E.D. Wash. Oct. 3, 2014) (employer argued "the restrictive covenants were independent from its obligations to pay the defendants agreed upon wages and to follow applicable state labor laws, these obligations were implicit (and explicit to varying degrees) in the employment agreements.")), CP 1603-12. Elite Cleaning Co., Inc. v. Capel, No. 690-N, 2006 WL 4782306, at *7 (Del. Ch. June 2, 2006) ("a more thorough development of the record would help clarify the law and its application ...") CP 1643-58; 1416:3-17:6. 1/31/20 RP at 44:9-12.

Genex was instructive. The employer explicitly moved on the noncompetes and the employees' defenses and counterclaims. CP 1416:21-17:6; 1606 at *3. The court denied partial summary judgment and concluded the noncompetes were not independent from the obligation to pay defendants and to follow labor laws; "these obligations were implicit (and explicit to varying degrees) in the employment agreements."

CP 1611-12 at *10-*11.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

(1) Division I's Decision Fails to Apply this Court's Holding in Robbins Requiring a Movant to Explicitly Move on Defenses and the Teachings of White against Deciding Issues Raised in a Reply Brief.

In <u>Robbins</u>, this Court's holding was: "[W]e hold that CR 56 requires parties moving for summary judgment on liability to explicitly move for summary judgment on the affirmative defenses if they would like the court to rule on them." <u>Robbins v. Mason Cnty. Title Ins. Co.</u>, 195 Wn.2d 618, 638 ¶51, 462 P.3d 430 (2020). <u>See</u> Br. of Appellant at 19 (quoting 195 Wn.2d at 683 [sic 638]).

The holding elucidated to state with *particularity* the grounds requires movants to "*explicitly* move for summary judgment on the affirmative defenses if they would like the court to rule on them." <u>Id.</u> at 638 ¶ 51 (adding italics). Explicit

means "clear, open, direct, or exact" or "leaving no doubt." EXPLICIT, BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY (11th ed. 2019).

Here, the motion <u>and</u> proposed order for declaratory relief <u>and</u> contractual liability failed to *set forth the relief or order sought* (judgment dismissing the defenses) and failed to *state with particularity the grounds* (judgment on the issue of defenses with the reasons therefor) as required under rules 7(a)(1) and 56, and <u>Robbins</u>. <u>See</u> 195 Wn.2d 635-38. CP 1339-66, CP 1577:7-10; 1579:8-21; 1595-98 (proposed order).

While the motion did mention lack of consideration and illegality under Labriola v. Pollard Grp., Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 100 P.3d 791, 793 (2004) and Schneller v. Hayes, 176 Wash. 115, 28 P.2d 273 (1934), the motion did not explicitly move to dismiss the overtime counterclaim and with particularity address the affirmative defenses including failure of consideration/material breach and illegality, etc. and the overtime counterclaim. Compare Op. at 10 with CP 1339-66;

1365:11-15 ("succeed on this claim at trial"), 1414:17-17:3; 1577:7-10; 1579:8-21; 1595-98 (proposed order).

Next, the opinion relies upon Young to assert that Hites was required to come forward with evidence to support his affirmative defenses including the overtime counterclaim. Op. at 10-11. But in Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 220, 226-31, 770 P.2d 182 (1989), court properly granted defendants summary judgment dismissing a malpractice claim, when they moved on expert testimony they did not breach the standard of care, and plaintiff failed to respond with competent evidence. Also, "each of the defendants moved separately for summary judgment. All defendants argued that Devan's claim was barred by the statute of limitations." Id. at 216. This Court ruled the statute of limitations was tolled and reversed the order ruling the statute of limitations barred the suit. This Court affirmed on the alternative ground the patient had failed to come forward with competent evidence of the breach of the standard of care. <u>Id.</u> at 220-231. Simply put, defendant medical providers in <u>Young</u> moved for summary judgment based on expert testimony. But here, the employer moved on evidence that it owed no commissions but failed to offer evidence that it owed no overtime and thus the employer failed to shift the burden to Hites to prove he was owed overtime. CP 1364:11-65:25.

The opinion below errs by ruling: "While Hites argued he could not be liable for breach if Griffin MacLean breached the agreement first by not paying wages owing to him, he presented no evidence to support his contention that Griffin MacLean had, in fact, breached any provision of the Agreement. Robbins does not modify well-established law under Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) that when a moving party presents evidence to establish certain dispositive facts, the nonmoving party must come forward with evidence to dispute, those facts. Hites did not do so." Op. at 10.

But see CP 1364:11:-65:25 (owed no commissions; overtime left for trial); 681:12-19 (failing to pay overtime in violation of

employment agreement); 1416:21-17:6 (<u>Genex</u>). Br. of Appellant at 32-33 (overtime as implied in the compensation terms, through duty of good faith); <u>id.</u> (citing 1/31/20 RP at 36:9-39:9; 40:13-17; .42:19-44:12; CP 1454:12-14).

Compare NIPR, LLC. v. Indus. Control Concepts, Inc.,

No. 38501-9-III, 2022 WL 17258689 at *1_*2, *8, 24 Wn.

App. 2d 1039 (Nov. 29, 2022) (correctly applying Robbins;
reversing summary judgment on affirmative defenses when

motion failed to raise them in subcontractor's a construction

lien foreclosure suit) with Op. at 11 (incorrectly applying

Robbins and stating "Hites was aware of the relief Griffin

MacLean sought on summary judgment because he specifically
argued that "the overtime (wage theft) and commission

reduction are valid defenses establishing the first material

breach by Griffin MacLean.")

During oral argument, Hites preserved these objections and objected the employer was improperly raising new issues in its reply brief in violation of White and was also flipping the

burden of proof. White v. Kent Med. Ctr., Inc., P. S., 61 Wn. App. 163, 810 P.2d 4 (1991). 1/31/20 RP at 37:1-3; 28:11-19; 38:19-24; 39:3-9; 39:17-20. CP 1577:11-25 (raised White at the hearing); 1585:1-86 (WPI 300.03).

The Court of Appeals erred affirming the dismissal of the affirmative defenses.

(2) Division I's Anti-Consumer/Employee Decision Fails Apply This Court's and Court of Appeal's Teachings on Unconscionable and Unenforceable Contract Provisions In Upholding a No Defenses Provision to Bar Overtime Violations as Defenses to an Overly Broad Noncompete.

The boilerplate §4 (remedies) is an unenforceable waiver of defenses. White and Summers_say "waiver of defense" clauses "are easy unconscionability targets" in sales contracts. James J. White, Robert B. Summers, Robert A. Hillman, 1 White, Summers, & Hillman, <u>Uniform Commercial Code</u> § 5:4 (6th ed. Nov. 2021 update). So too in an adhesion noncompete with a sale associate.

Section 4 (Remedies) includes an inconspicuous waiver of

defenses:

4. Remedies

The existence of any claim or cause of action the

Employee [has] against the Employer, whether predicated

on his or her employment with the Employer, shall not

constitute a defense to the enforcement of these covenants ...

App. B to Br. of App. (adding bold); Br. of Appellant at 44-45 (admission that nothing was conspicuous). <u>Cf.</u> RCW 62A.1-201(10)(heading or text as conspicuous).

The heading (on the prior page from the text) does not warn (Limitation of Remedies) or (Waiver of Defenses). App B. The "not constitute a defense" sentence is not conspicuous, and does it mention first breach, failure of consideration or lack of consideration, or illegality. There was no intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known, existing right. See Panorama Residential Protective Ass'n v. Panorama Corp. of

Wash., 97 Wn.2d 23, 28-29, 640 P.2d 1057, 1060 (1982).

Even if §4 merely limits remedies-it must be clearly labeled and somehow emphasized and negotiated. Cf.

Torgerson v. One Lincoln Tower, LLC, 166 Wn.2d 510, 519-20, 210 P.3d 318, 323 (2009) (no procedural unconscionability when remedy limitation to refund of deposit was set off in a paragraph and the "licensed," "sophisticated real estate agents"/buyers signed a separate page, in what seemed like "a sweetheart deal"); accord, Berg v. Stromme, 79 Wn.2d 184, 196, 484 P.2d 380 (1971) (requiring explicit negotiation and particularized waiver of warranty in consumer transactions).

The one-sidedness is evident in §4 (Remedies) (waiving defense to enforcement of the noncompete, mandating entitlement to an injunction, and permitting the employer to recover attorney's fees and punitive damages "unavailable in contract actions") and in §5 (attorney's fees) (unilaterally allowing the employer to recover fees and costs for

enforcement)--while unilaterally preventing the employee from exercising correlative or intertwined excuses, defenses, and remedies. CP 24-26. These provisions are unconscionable both procedurally and substantively when applied to the overtime counterclaim and defense. Accord. Tadych v. Noble Ridge

Construction, Inc., 200 Wn.2d 635, 519 P.3d 199 (2022); Zuver v. Airtouch Communications, Inc., 153 Wn.2d 293, 103 P.3d 753 (2004). Cf. Zuver, 153 Wn.2d at 313-19 (remedy limitation barring employee from recovering punitive or exemplary damages but permitting employer to recover them was unconscionable in the circumstances).

The court erred in denying the affirmative defenses and ruling the no defense provision and other provisions were not unconscionable and were enforceable. Op. at 18-22.

CONCLUSION

The court should grant review on these issues.

I certify that the number of words in this document (exclusive of the title, tables of contents and authorities, this certificate, service certificate, signature blocks, and appendixes) is 2,385 words.