FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/9/2023 3:05 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101973-4

Court of Appeals No. 81584-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RYAN HITES,

Petitioner,

v.

GRIFFIN MACLEAN, INC.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN, SWANSON & CLEVELAND, PLLC Bryan C. Graff, WSBA #38553 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3400 Seattle, Washington 98101-3034 (206) 464-4224 graff@ryanlaw.com Attorneys for Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Hites Does Not Meet the Standard for Accepting Review.</u>

Pursuant to Rule of Appellate Procedure 13.4(b), "[a] petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court."

Neither of the issues Hites presents for review by this Court meet this standard.

- B. The Court of Appeals' Conclusion that GM's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Placed Hites' Affirmative Defenses at Issue is not in Conflict with Robbins.
 - 1. Hites Stipulated to Only Those Defenses Raised in Opposition to Summary Judgment.

Hites stipulated that his Agreement with GM was valid, binding and enforceable, subject only to issues he raised in response to GM's motion for partial summary judgment. CP 1413. In his Response, Hites identified only four specific defenses on which he relied to avoid liability under the Agreement: lack of consideration, unconscionability/illegality, first material breach, and unclean hands. *See* CP 1414; CP 1417-18; CP 679; CP 1414-15; CP 1451-58; CP 1705-08. "The trial court rejected each of these four arguments." COA Opinion at p. 9.

2. Robbins does not Require GM to Move Separately on Each of Hites' Affirmative Defenses.

Now, in his Petition, Hites does not challenge the trial court or Court of Appeals' findings as to the merits of his defenses, but rather contends that *Robbins v. Mason Cnty*. *Title Ins. Co.*, 195 Wn.2d 618, 462 P.3d 430 (2020), precludes his affirmative defenses from being resolved on summary judgment unless GM specifically moved to dismiss each defense. As the Court of Appeals stated, however, *Robbins* is distinguishable and does not apply here.

"The purpose of a motion under the civil rules is to give the other party notice of the relief sought." *Pamelin Indus., Inc., v. Sheen-U.S.A., Inc.*, 95 Wn.2d 398, 402, 622 P.2d 1270 (1981). In *Robbins*, the moving party specifically asked the trial court not to consider the non-moving party's affirmative defenses. *Robbins*, 195 Wn.2d at 636. Accordingly, "[b]ecause Robbins' motion had not raised legal or factual issues relating to any of MCTI's affirmative defenses, [the Supreme Court] ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW- 11 -

concluded that MCTI was not on notice that Robbins sought summary judgment on these defenses and they remained to be resolved by the trial court." COA Opinion at p. 9 (citing *Robbins*, 195 Wn.2d at 637).

Here, to the contrary, Hites was fully aware his affirmative defenses were placed at issue by GM's motion. First, Hites waived three of his affirmative defenses by stipulating that his Agreement was valid, binding and enforceable, subject to the arguments in his response. He did not argue—and therefore waived—his affirmative defenses alleging laches, estoppel and "illegality of Plaintiff's conduct and the conduct of its principal, Paul Dent." Second, Hites did specifically raise, and the trial court considered and rejected, four defenses—two challenging the validity and enforceability of the Agreement (failure of consideration and unconscionability) and two allegedly excusing his breach (first material breach and unclean hands).⁵ In raising these defenses, Hites made clear that he was on notice that GM's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment required him to raise defenses to defeat the motion.

Specifically, GM's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment sought an order establishing the Agreement was reasonable, enforceable and binding. The only way for Hites to defeat summary judgment on these issues was to raise defenses that the Agreement could not be enforced. This is exactly what he did in raising the arguments of failure of consideration and unconscionability. As a result, the Court of Appeals rejected Hites' argument that these defenses—lack of consideration and unconscionability—were not sufficiently placed at issue by GM. As the Court of Appeals concluded:

-

⁵ As the trial court recognized, Hites "did not specify which affirmative defenses related to which claims." CP 1706. Contrary to Hites' contention, the trial court did not dismiss his affirmative defenses in granting GM's motion for partial summary judgment, but rather held "[a]ll of the affirmative defenses potentially remain as to [GM's] other causes of action that were not the subject of the Motion." CP 1708.

Hites was on notice that Griffin Maclean sought a legal ruling that the Agreement was "reasonable, enforceable, and binding." Griffin MacLean explicitly argued that the Agreement was supported by consideration, discussing Hites' unsuccessful reliance on Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 828, 100 P.3d 791 (2004), in opposing the employer's request for preliminary injunctive relief. It also specifically argued that the Agreement did not violate any Washington public policy and was therefore lawful. request for relief and arguments set out in Griffin Maclean's motion gave Hites notice that it was challenging his affirmative defenses of lack of consideration and illegality. Robbins does not apply when a moving party's requested relief clearly puts at issue the nonmoving party's affirmative defenses.

COA Opinion at p. 10 (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals also rejected Hites' argument that GM did not sufficiently place at issue his defenses which would excuse his breach—first material breach and unclean hands. It concluded:

[B]y seeking a factual finding that Hites had breached the Agreement, Griffin Maclean also put at issue any facts that might have excused or justified Hites' conduct. Yet, Hites failed to produce any evidence to establish a justification for his breach. While Hites argued he could not be liable for breach if Griffin MacLean breached the agreement first by not paying wages owing to him, he presented no evidence to support his contention that Griffin Maclean had, in fact, breached any provision of the Agreement. Robbins does not modify well-established law under Young v. Key

Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989) that when a moving party presents evidence to establish certain dispositive facts, the nonmoving party must come forward with evidence to dispute those facts. Hites did not do so.

Id. As to Hites' argument that GM had failed to pay him commissions owed during his employment, the Court of Appeals concluded: "Hites cannot rely on *Robbins* to claim he was denied the opportunity to litigate an affirmative defense when he clearly had notice that this factual issue was part and parcel of the employer's dispositive motion, raised it in his responsive pleadings, and chose not to present evidence to support it." *Id.* at p. 11.

The Court of Appeals lastly rejected Hites' argument that the trial court's decision on summary judgment in any way precluded him from raising his unclean hands argument at trial. Indeed, as the Court of Appeals noted, the trial court did not dismiss Hites' unclean hands affirmative defense on summary judgment but rather considered it and rejected it

after Hites raised the argument in post-trial motions.

COA Opinion at p. 12.

As implied in *Robbins* and expressly recognized in *Evanston Ins. Co. v. Penhall Co.*, 13 Wn. App. 2d 863, 871, 468 P.3d 651, 656 (2020), review denied, 196 Wn.2d 1040, 479 P.3d 713 (2021), a motion can be sufficient to attack affirmative defenses even when the defenses are not the express subject of the motion. *Robbins*, as noted above, was decided on a narrow set of facts where the moving party expressly asked the court to not consider affirmative defenses. The Court of Appeals clearly distinguished and accurately applied *Robbins* to this case and review on this issue is not justified.

Finally, Hites' efforts to assign error to the Court of Appeals' application of *Young v. Key Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 770 P.2d 182 (1989), and *White v. Kent Med. Ctr., Inc., P.S.*, 61 Wn. App. 163, 810 P.2d 4 (1991), are also misplaced. The Court of Appeals cited *Young* for the well-

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW- 16 -

established rule that a party opposing summary judgment must bring forth admissible evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact. COA Opinion at p. 10. Hites "presented no evidence to support his contention that Griffin MacLean had, in fact, breached any provision of the Agreement." *Id*.

The Court of Appeals also properly applied *White*. Hites cited *White* to argue GM improperly raised new arguments regarding the validity of Section 4 of the Agreement in its reply on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals correctly recognized, however, that "Griffin MacLean was actually responding to Hites' argument that section 4 was an 'inconspicuous' waiver of defenses that violated public policy. Griffin MacLean's response to Hites' argument was not improper." COA Opinion at 19, n.7.

Hites is unable to establish that the Court of Appeals' decision relating to Hites' affirmative defenses is in conflict with either *Robbins*, *Young* or *White* or otherwise justifies

review by this Court pursuant to RAP 13.4(b). As a result, review must be denied.

3. The Trial Court did not Err on Summary Judgment and any Alleged Error is Harmless as Hites Could Not Have Prevailed.

An appellate court "will not reverse unless an error prejudiced a party because it 'affects, or presumptively affects, the outcome of the trial." *Dormaier v. Columbia Basin Anesthesia, PLLC,* 177 Wn. App. 828, 857-58, 313 P.3d 431, 444-45 (2013), quoting *Brown v. Spokane Cnty. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 1,* 100 Wn.2d 188, 196, 668 P.2d 571 (1983). Accordingly, even if the trial court had erred—which it did not—when rejecting Hites' defenses in ruling on GM's motion for partial summary judgment, this cannot form the basis for reversible error.

As noted above, Hites waived three of his five affirmative defenses in stipulating to the validity of the Agreement subject only to the defenses raised in his response to summary judgment. Even absent his stipulation, Hites'

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW- 18 -

affirmative defenses could not have defeated GM's contract claim.

Of the five defenses Hites pleaded, laches and estoppel can most easily be disposed of. First, Hites did not raise these defenses on either summary judgment or appeal and, as a result, were waived. See Rapid Settlements, Ltd.'s Application for Approval of Transfer of Structured Settlement Payment Rights v. Symetra Life Ins. Co., 166 Wn. App. 683, 695, 271 P.3d 925 (2012). Second, there was no evidence to support either defense, or any indication they even allegedly related to GM's contract claim. GM brought suit within weeks of the defendants' wrongful actions, and there are no facts on which to base an estoppel argument. Neither laches nor estoppel could have provided a viable defense, and indeed, Hites did not offer argument or jury instructions on them or otherwise pursue them.

Similarly, the alleged affirmative defense of "Illegality of Plaintiff's conduct and the conduct of its principal, Paul ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW- 19 -

Dent" could not have helped Hites on his breach of contract claim. In Section 4 of the Agreement, discussed below, the parties contractually agreed that any claims which Hites may have stand separately, but cannot form a defense to enforcement of the restrictive covenants in Hites' Agreement. In other words, this affirmative defense is in direct conflict with enforceable provisions of the parties' agreement.

Hites' failure of consideration defense also fails. First, the only evidence placed before the trial court on summary judgment established that Hites entered the Agreement, including the non-solicitation provision, prior to commencing work for GM. CP 2604. This fact alone distinguishes this case from cases like *Labriola v. Pollard Group, Inc.*, 152 Wn.2d 828, 100 P.3d 791 (2004), relied on by Hites, where a noncompetition agreement was signed after the employee

-

⁶ This purported defense appears to relate, at least in part, to *Neville's* false allegations, explicitly rejected by the jury, that GM breached Neville's severance agreement, and that GM and Paul Dent breached fiduciary duties and the Washington State Securities Act. CP 1413-14; CP 1580; CP 1852-53.

began working for the employer. Second, as the Court of Appeals recognized, the Agreement "explicitly stated that Griffin MacLean was providing Hites with employment, specialized training and access to Griffin MacLean's customers, buyers and employees, as the bargained-for exchange." COA Opinion at p. 15. Hites' failure of consideration claim was properly rejected by the trial court and Court of Appeals.

Similarly, the trial court correctly found that Hites failed to present any evidence to support his unclean hands defense, though he had ample opportunity to obtain evidence and develop that defense throughout discovery. Not only does Hites lack evidence to support this defense, but, as noted by the Court of Appeals, the equitable doctrine of unclean hands does not apply to a legal claim for breach of contract and is only a valid defense to a party's request for equitable relief. COA Opinion at p. 11-12 (citing *Dollar Sys., Inc. v. Avcar Leasing Sys., Inc.*, 890 F.2d 165, 173-75 (9th Cir. 1989); *J.L.*

Cooper & Co. v. Anchor Sec. Co., 9 Wn.2d 45, 73, 113 P.2d 845 (1941)).

There was no evidence, and Hites has pointed to none in his appeal, which would have supported his defenses, and none of Hites' defenses could have affected the outcome at trial. Even if trial court and Court of Appeals had erred—and they did not—the alleged error was harmless.

C. Section 4 of the Agreement is Neither Unconscionable nor Involves Significant Public Policy Concerns Which Necessitate Review by this Court.

Hites contends Section 4 of the Agreement constitutes a waiver of common law defenses. Section 4 of the Agreement provides:

The existence of any claim or cause of action the Employee [has] against the Employer, whether predicated on his or her employment with the Employer, shall not constitute a defense to the enforcement by the Employer of these covenants.

CP 24-25.

Hites did not allege unconscionability or illegality of a contract as an affirmative defense. Hites only alleged ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW- 22 -

"illegality of Plaintiff's conduct and the conduct of its principal, Paul Dent." CP 48. Unconscionability and illegality are affirmative defenses and are waived if not timely pled. *Beroth v. Apollo Coll., Inc.,* 135 Wn. App. 551, 561, 145 P.3d 386, 392 (2006); *Davidson v. Hensen*, 135 Wn.2d 112, 131, 954 P.2d 1327, 1336-37 (1998); CR 8 (c); CR 12(b). The first time Hites raised these defenses was in response to GM's partial summary judgment motion one month before trial. This is not timely, and Hites waived these affirmative defenses.

In addition, contrary to Hites' contention, Section 4 is not an inconspicuous waiver of defenses that violates public policy. In fact, Section 4 is not a waiver at all. Waivers of liability "deny an injured party the right to recover damages from the person negligently causing the injury." *Johnson v. Spokane to Sandpoint, LLC*, 176 Wn. App. 453, 458, 309 P.3d 528 (2013) (quoting *Scott v. Pac. W. Mountain Resort*, 119 Wn.2d 484, 491, 834 P.2d 6 (1992) (internal quotations omitted)). In contrast, the provision at issue does not preclude

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW- 23 -

Hites from pursuing claims and recovering damages should those claims be successful; no claims are waived. GM and Hites simply agreed that such claims do not affect the enforceability of the restrictive covenants in Hites' Agreement.

Moreover, Hites does not identify defenses which would exist, but for Section 4. As discussed above, in response to GM's motion for partial summary judgment, Hites expressly stipulated his Agreement was valid, binding and enforceable, subject to alleged defenses argued in his opposition brief. CP 1413-14. The trial court considered the defenses he raised, and correctly rejected them. To the extent Hites now argues that other claims would constitute defenses to GM's enforcement of the non-solicitation agreement, such an argument fails. Hites did not previously make this argument, nor is there legal support for such a position.

Indeed, Hites was entitled to bring counterclaims against GM, which he did, related his claims of unpaid ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW- 24 -

overtime and commissions. Section 4 merely precludes Hites from using separate claims against GM to invalidate the otherwise enforceable restrictive covenants in the Agreement. Section 4 is not a waiver, does not involve questions of substantial public interest, and does not necessitate review by this Court.

V. **CONCLUSION**

Hites is unable to meet the standard for review set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Accordingly, this Court should deny Hites' Petition for Review.

This document contains 3,944 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.